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“...So that you too ...may be living stones
making a spiritual house.”

1 Peter, 2:5 (Jerusalem Bible, 1966)

Image above: Nave arcade, All Saints, Barton-upon-Irwell, Greater Manchester (E.W. Pugin 1862 – 65).
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This publication celebrates the completion of major works to some 39 outstanding historic Catholic buildings in England funded under 
Historic England’s Grants for Programmes of Major Works from 2020 – 2022. The funding, provided by the government as part of the 
Culture Recovery Fund, has supported repair projects at a remarkable diversity of Grade I and Grade II* listed Catholic churches and at one 
historic house, Harvington Hall, near Kidderminster, an important recusant house in the ownership of the Archdiocese of Birmingham 

and open to the public.

I would like to thank all those involved with ensuring the success of this grants scheme. We are very grateful to the government and to 
Historic England for providing the funding that has enabled these important projects to proceed. Staff at Historic England have provided 
outstanding support and I would particularly like to thank Diana Evans, Sally Embree and Ian Forrest, along with their project managers 
and support staff for their advice and help. In addition, I would also like to express my gratitude to the conservation professionals involved 
with these projects, the conservation accredited architects and surveyors, the quantity surveyors, the specialist conservation contractors 

and craftsmen and women who have worked so hard to ensure that these projects could be delivered on time. 

The team which managed the grants scheme for the Catholic Bishops’ Conference deserves our gratitude. In particular, Sophie Andreae, 
Vice Chair of the Patrimony Committee, Josephine Warren, Historic Churches Adviser, and Fergus Brotherton, a long serving member 
of the Patrimony Committee and Secretary of our Southern Historic Churches Committee whose facility with spreadsheets ensured 
that every aspect of grant expenditure was carefully monitored and accounted for. I would also like to thank the staff at the Bishops’ 
Conference who supported the administration of the programme and managed the payments effectively, thus assuring the success of the 
scheme. There are many people working for our dioceses and religious orders who were closely involved with supporting and managing 

these projects, and of course many dedicated priests and parishioners who were also fully engaged — our gratitude goes to them all.

Coming in the wake of Covid-19, this grant scheme has provided a lifeline to so many faced with the often frightening prospect of 
needing to undertake significant capital repairs to major historic buildings without the funding to enable works to proceed. We cannot 
overstate how deeply grateful we are for this grant scheme and for what the generous funding has allowed us to achieve. We very much 
hope that the success of Historic England’s approach to the funding of capital repairs under this scheme may set the scene for further 

publicly funded programmes in the future to enable us to continue to support vital work to our historic churches.

Foreword

The Most Reverend George Stack
Chair of the Patrimony Committee of the Catholic Bishops’ Conference of England and Wales

Archbishop Emeritus of Cardiff 
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Introduction

The story begins in July 2020 with the government 
announcement of the Culture Recovery Fund to give support 
to cultural organisations and to heritage sites to tackle the 
crisis they faced as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. As part 
of this, Historic England, with the support of the Department 
for Culture Media and Sport and under the aegis of the 
Heritage Stimulus Fund, launched a grants programme 
called Grants for Programmes of Major Works. Under this 
programme, funding was made available for urgent capital 
works to Grade I and Grade II* buildings that were normally 
open to the public in England but which had been closed 
during lockdown and which were suffering significant losses 
in revenue as a result. Historic churches were particularly 
badly hit.

The timescale for applications was exceedingly tight and 
only organisations with a national remit were eligible to 
apply. The Patrimony Committee of the Catholic Bishops’ 
Conference of England and Wales responded by alerting all 
nineteen Dioceses in England and religious orders with 
highly graded listed church buildings in their care. With 
advice from an Expert Panel under the Chairmanship of Sir 
Paul Ruddock applications for both Catholic and Church 
of England churches and cathedrals were reviewed and 
submitted to Historic England. Some 29 Catholic projects 
at 27 churches were approved for funding. In Round 1, 
£3.14 million was awarded. 

Funding was generously set at 80 per cent of eligible costs, both 
to reflect the shortage of funding available to those needing to 
undertake repairs and the need for works to proceed with speed. 
Due to Treasury requirements, 80 per cent of the works needed 
to be complete by March 31st the following year — a tall order 
given that many of the projects involved urgent high-level repairs 
to roofs and stonework having to be undertaken during the 
winter months with frost, snow and winter storms to contend 
with. Other challenges involved members of scaffolding crews 
and contractors developing Covid and having to isolate along 
with their teams which also caused delays. 

However, challenges were met and work proceeded apace towards 
completion. Then, in the summer of 2021, just as Round 1 grantees 
were striking their scaffolding and congratulating themselves on 
jobs well done within the deadline, a second round of Grants for 
Programmes of Major Works was announced. Again the Patrimony 
Committee leapt into action to alert potential applicants.
 
In Round 2 a further 18 capital repair projects were funded from 
a grant award of £3.49 million from Historic England. This time 
the Patrimony Committee invited a team of experts to advise on 
applications received prior to the submission of a prioritised list 
with full backup material provided to Historic England. Whilst 
six churches received a second tranche of funding in Round 2 to 
allow the full completion of a project partially finished under 
Round 1, the majority of the 18 successful applicants in Round 2 
were for new projects at different locations. 

Again, the timescale was tight, but for this round the challenge was 
often the availability and general shortage of appropriate building 
materials as, emerging from Covid-19, transport and delivery 
crises played havoc with carefully planned programmes of work. 
Nonetheless, with ingenuity and drive, projects proceeded apace 
with final sign-off of all projects with Historic England achieved in 
the autumn of 2022. In all, some 39 buildings were supported with 
grants over the two-year period of this grants scheme.

This publication is a celebration of the enormous amount that has been achieved under Historic England’s farsighted Grants for 
Programmes of Major Works and it is intended to provide a fitting tribute to all those involved. This grants programme enabled the 
Catholic Church in England to carry out urgent repairs at a significant number of its most important historical buildings.

St Walburge, Preston
Scaffolding being erected in the snow 2021
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Background

Historic Catholic churches are less well known in the UK than they deserve to be. There are a number of reasons for this. Firstly, for 
over 200 years after the Reformation, the saying of Mass was illegal and Catholics faced fines, imprisonment and even death. To this 
day, the anti-Catholic Gordon riots of June 1780 remain the single most destructive public disturbance in London’s history, with 
eight days of mayhem when the Catholic chapels in foreign embassies were sacked and houses of prominent Catholics torched. The 
army was finally called in to restore order. Over 300 people died. 

Whilst private chapels existed in the houses of Catholic families, it 
was the 1791 Catholic Relief Act that first permitted the building 
of public places of worship. St Thomas of Canterbury in Newport, 
Isle of Wight (see page 50) was built that very year. Full Catholic 
Emancipation followed in 1829 and the Hierarchy of Catholic 
Bishops was reinstated and Catholic dioceses created in 1850. This, 
combined with the Catholic Revival of the mid-nineteenth 
century, and the Irish Famine which began in 1845 and brought 
thousands of impoverished Irish to the fast growing industrial 
heartlands of Britain, led to a surge in Catholic church building 
which continued well after the Second World War and into the 
1960s. A fuller history of the development of Catholic churches in 
this country is included at the end of this publication.

Whereas Anglican churches, whether medieval, Georgian, 
Victorian or twentieth century, tend to occupy central and 
highly visible sites, Catholic churches are often to be found in 
secondary locations in towns and cities, often with plain 
exteriors so as not to draw too much attention to themselves. 
The result has been that, until recently, many Catholic 
churches were either unlisted or under-graded. In 2005, 
Historic England commenced a programme with individual 
dioceses called Taking Stock. In an exercise jointly funded by 
Historic England and dioceses, reviews were undertaken of 

all diocesan churches with a view to establishing their 
architectural and historic importance. This hugely important 
and ambitious project was finally completed in 2019 with 
the results publicly accessible on the Taking Stock website 
(see taking-stock.org.uk). 

As listings are being reviewed, many Catholic churches are being 
upgraded or being listed for the first time. In the last year, for 
example, St Mary’s, Ryde, a fine church by J.A. Hansom, located in 
a Historic England High Street Heritage Action Zone, has been 
upgraded to Grade II*, as has St Edward the Confessor, Clifford, 
in West Yorkshire. Sadly, however, these two upgradings came too 
late for these churches to be eligible for the recent grants scheme. 
Historic England’s recent review of listings in the Diocese of East 
Anglia has seen St Benet’s Minster, Beccles,  go from being unlisted 
to Grade II* in January this year. New listings have also seen 
Brentwood Cathedral listed at Grade II* last year under the 
thirty-year rule. The first building by classical architect, Quinlan 
Terry, to be listed, Brentwood Cathedral was completed in 1991 
so only recently became eligible for listing. Cadw is currently 
reviewing the listings of Catholic churches in Wales following the 
completion of Taking Stock there in 2019.  

St Mary’s, Ryde, Isle of Wight
( J. A. Hansom 1844 – 46)

Brentwood Cathedral
(Quinlan Terry 1989 – 91) 

St Edward the Confessor, Clifford,
West Yorkshire ( J. A. Hansom 1845 – 48)
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There has been public funding available for the repair of places of worship since grants were first introduced by the government in 
1977, at the time of the V&A’s influential exhibition, Change and Decay: The Future of our Churches, which highlighted the plight 
of many fine church buildings. The most recent dedicated funding programme for churches, the Grants for Places of Worship 
(GPOW) scheme was closed down by the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF, now the National Lottery Heritage Fund, NLHF) in 2017. 
Through this programme, prior to closure, some £30 million was available per annum for the repair of listed places of worship in the 
UK. A number of Catholic churches, including Grade II listed churches, had received valuable funding from the GPOW 
programme and its loss has been keenly felt.

Grant Support

SS Peter, Paul and St Philomena
New Brighton

Since the closure of GPOW, it has been much harder for 
Catholic churches to access funding from the NLHF since, 
without a dedicated church grants programme, all applications 
have to be submitted under NLHF’s open programmes and 
thus compete with applications from museums and heritage 
attractions. Current NLHF policy puts the emphasis on people 
and on grants providing activities, learning and outreach 
alongside funding repairs. Laudable though these objectives 
are, it is often not possible for Catholic churches to meet 
current NLHF requirements since Catholic churches are 
sacred spaces by virtue of the presence of the Blessed Sacrament 
and cannot, under Canon Law, be used for secular activities. 
Whilst NLHF’s recently announced new ten-year strategy 
indicates that there may be more funding for church buildings 
and for heritage considered to be at risk, only time will tell 
whether Catholic churches will be able to benefit. 

What is clear, both from the experience of the former HLF GPOW 
programme and from Historic England’s recent Grants for 
Programmes of Major Works, is that if funding is forthcoming to 
undertake major capital-intensive works such as dealing with 
leaking roofs, then congregations can, and do, embark on all kinds 
of outreach and engagement safe in the knowledge that they are not 
battling the elements in an unequal race against time. A grant to 
stop the dry rot in the roof of Augustus Pugin’s great St Augustine’s, 
Ramsgate (see page 45), paved the way for a significant Lottery 
application some years ago which then saw the creation of a Pugin 
Centre and visitor facilities. At SS Peter, Paul and St Philomena, 
New Brighton, on the tip of the Wirral, two GPOW grants and a 
further NLHF grant bringing the total to some £750,000, has seen 
the exterior and dome of this great landmark church restored, and 
it has empowered the congregation to do so much more. However 
with water streaming in and no funding to fix the roof, the outlook 
for many congregations is bleak.

This was the situation at St John the Baptist, Rochdale (see page 
19) and also at St. Mary’s, Great Yarmouth (see page 39). In 
addition to the grant under this programme, Rochdale 
subsequently succeeded with its NLHF application which will 
see its dome restored. St Mary’s, Great Yarmouth, urgently 
needed a new roof covering, the concrete tiles which had 
replaced the original Victorian slates at some point in the 
post-war period being both unsuitable, ill-fitting and leading to 
serious leaks. This church received two grants under the Grants 
for Programmes of Major Works which have seen the east end 
and then the nave and aisles re-roofed inappropriate materials. 
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Before and after images of the mural of Our Lady of Great Yarmouth. The damage was caused by heavy rain flooding through a failing valley gutter.

St Mary’s, Great Yarmouth back in full use following major roof repairs.

The town of Great Yarmouth itself sits in the top 10 – 20 percent 
of areas listed in the Government’s Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation, and there was simply no funding available to 
the church for much-needed repairs. The congregation is hugely 
diverse with Catholics from some 51 countries attending Mass 
on a regular basis. This grants scheme has provided a lifeline to 
St Mary’s. The enthusiasm and commitment of the parish, the 
sense of pride in their church and the part it plays in Great 

Yarmouth as a place is tangible. Seeing repair work in action, 
rather than damp and decay, has given the community great 
hope for the future and a determination to raise more funding to 
restore the interior, including the wall painting of Our Lady of 
Great Yarmouth, so cruelly damaged by rainwater flooding in 
from a failing valley gutter during a storm. Most important of all 
is the community’s renewed wish to share their wonderful 
building and encourage more people to visit and appreciate it. 
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The Catholic Church in England and Wales, along with other denominations and faiths, was hit particularly hard by the pandemic. 
Churches being closed for worship and then reopening under strict social distancing regimes caused income to plummet. Catholic 
dioceses saw their income drop by 50 percent. In some parishes, the figure was nearer 70 percent as congregations were unable to 
attend Mass and make their normal weekly offerings. In areas of deprivation the situation was particularly acute because these are 
the kinds of areas where congregations traditionally contribute cash to the plate each Sunday due to less regular incomes. Such 
congregations are less likely to operate planned giving via monthly Direct Debits or Standing Orders as tends to happen in more 
affluent areas.

19

For example, in 2019, the Diocese of Shrewsbury was quite 
unexpectedly left a legacy of around £1million which was 
then earmarked for urgent restoration work needed at the 
Cathedral. Instead, due to the pandemic, this legacy was used 
to support parishes around the Diocese and to cover debts in 
parishes that had arisen because of loss of income. This was 
particularly acute in deprived parts of the Diocese such as 
Birkenhead, Wallasey, Ellesmere Port and Warrington. 

When Westminster Cathedral re-opened after being closed 
for 12 weeks (for the first time in more than  125 years of 
history), social distancing rules only permitted 134 people at 
each Mass, this in a Cathedral designed to hold some 2,000. 
The vast majority of visitors or Mass attendees at Westminster 
Cathedral are believed to be from the very diverse ethnic 
populations of London and nearly half from areas of high 
social deprivation.  

Visiting their local church is almost certainly the strongest 
connection that many in these diverse groups have with a 
heritage building and it is a connection that it is vitally 
important to nurture. It is also worth noting that many 

Catholic churches, being situated in urban centres, sit within 
the top 10 percent of areas of deprivation according to the 
multiple deprivation index. 

Recent immigration to this country is adding a new layer to an 
existing rich and varied history. For example, the Syro-Malabar 
Catholic community from southern India now have a number 
of churches in the care of the Syro-Malabar Eparchy of Great 
Britain. Their Cathedral of St Alphonsa is in Preston, a former 
Jesuit church of the 1830s where the poet Gerard Manley 
Hopkins was a curate. This church (see page 17) received two 
grant awards to tackle dry rot in the roof. There is still a lot 
more repair work to be done at St Alphonsa, but, strong 
though the congregation is, as in many parishes, they have 
found it difficult to access funding. The challenge and 
complexity of making a successful bid to the NLHF is all too 
real for congregations.

7

Despite the challenges of the pandemic, Catholic churches were at the forefront of a great deal of vital work to support local 
communities running food banks and the like. For example, in the three months of lockdown, the Archdiocese of Westminster 
distributed over 100,000 meals, often from churches that had no food bank or similar project before. Much of this valuable 
work is continuing but, when it comes to income, it is clear that it is going to be a long time before parish and diocesan revenues 
return to pre-crisis levels. In addition, parishes have to cope with increasing costs from rising fuel bills and the like.

Above and left: Celebration of the arrival of the relics of St Bernadette of Lourdes at the Cathedral of St Alphonsa, Preston, in September 2022
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The two rounds of the Grants for Programmes of Major Works have demonstrated the overwhelming need for a new dedicated grants 
scheme to support capital works of repair at historic churches. Whilst congregations can generally manage to maintain their 
buildings and to improve them, when a roof needs replacing this kind of expenditure is way beyond the means of those responsible 
for the day-to-day care of the building.

Sophie Andreae CBE DSG FSA IHBC

Vice Chair, Patrimony Committee
Catholic Bishops’ Conference of England and Wales

The closing of the HLF’s GPOW scheme in 2017 resulted in 
many listed Catholic churches simply having no obvious source 
of funding to turn to for these once-in-a-generation capital 
costs. This was the case at St Mary’s, Great Yarmouth, until the 
announcement of Historic England’s grant scheme, and it is the 
overall story of all the projects illustrated here.

The Catholic churches built in the nineteenth century have 
reached a point where major repairs are now necessary as roofs 
become nail-sick, leadwork has deteriorated over time and 
stonework has weathered. If these repairs can be addressed, 
there is no reason why these buildings cannot continue in 
beneficial use into the future. Some of the post-Second World 
War Catholic churches have reached this point in their building 
cycle a bit sooner having often been constructed in the 1950s 
and 1960s using new and untried materials or with traditional 
materials used in an unconventional way. Clifton Cathedral, an 
iconic design by the Percy Thomas Partnership dating from 
1969, received just over £1million from the First World War 
Centenary Cathedrals Repair Fund to replace the lead covering 
on the spire and to replace and redesign elements of the flat 
roofs around the building which were failing.

Whilst Catholic churches cannot be opened up for secular 
uses as many Anglican churches are now, the Catholic 
concept of sacred space is, at last, gaining a greater degree of 
understanding in this country. Recent research by the 
University of York and others during the pandemic has 
shown powerfully how people, including those who do not 
identify as ‘religious’, value spaces that can provide a quiet, 
peaceful and beautiful place for reflection.  

For these places to remain open and accessible to all, funding more 
major capital works is necessary. Forty years of public funding from 
1977–2017 has seen numerous medieval and other churches 
brought back from the brink and enabled them to continue to 
thrive. Many are much visited. Now that Catholic heritage is being 
more widely appreciated and recognised through listing, it is 
essential that these fine buildings get the care they deserve so that 
they too can continue to contribute to the well-being not just of 
their congregations but of the wider community. 

The projects illustrated in this publication demonstrate what has 
been achieved over the two-year period of the grants scheme. With 
each project overseen by qualified conservation professionals, the 
standard of work has been exceptional. Craft skills have been 
nurtured and opportunities for young people to gain experience in 
these areas have been encouraged. Many people were involved in 
making this programme a real success. What follows is intended 
both as a record and as a tribute to all involved. 

Clifton Cathedral (1969): Major roof repairs were carried out under
the First World War Centenary Cathedrals Repair Fund.

North West of England
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Built between 1821–27, St Patrick’s is one of Liverpool’s oldest 
and most historic Catholic churches. Constructed in the years 
before Catholic Emancipation, it was subject to attack by 
anti-Catholics on frequent occasions in its early years. It was 
designed by local Liverpool architect, John Slater, who was a joiner 
as well as an architect and was paid for, not by a benefactor, but 
through collections from the local and poor congregation. The 
large statue which adorns the main façade is of St Patrick. This was 
brought from the St Patrick Insurance Company building in 
Dublin when these offices closed in 1927. This statue so enraged 
anti-Catholics that various efforts were made to pull it down. A 
fine painting of the Crucifixion by the Belgian artist Nicaise de 
Keyser in c.1834 dominates the beautiful galleried interior.

The grant in Round 1 enabled urgent repairs to be carried out to 
the brickwork of the front façade where repointing of high level 
areas of brickwork was undertaken. The leadwork on the 
pediment replaced stopping water ingress and the timberwork of 
the delightful bell-cote was restored prior to a new lead covering 
being installed.
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Archdiocese of Liverpool

St Patrick
Park Place, Toxteth, Liverpool
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £63,777

N
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est of  England
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This church now serves as the Chaplaincy to the Universities of 
Liverpool including Liverpool University, Liverpool St John 
Moores University and Liverpool Institute of Performing Arts.  
It was designed by architect P.S. Gilby with work commencing 
just before the First World War broke. It finally opened in 1920. 
The exterior is Byzantine in style and the interior is decorated 
with rich mosaics and marble inspired by St Mark’s in Venice. 

There was a worsening damp problem at the front of the church 
with water seeping from the street and pavement into the 
foundations of the church and its walls. The Round 1 grant 
enabled this long-standing problem to be addressed.

Catherine Street, Liverpool    
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £25,606

Whilst most historic Catholic churches were designed by 
Catholic architects, Lancaster Cathedral is an exception being 
designed by the Anglican architect, Edward Graham Paley in 
1857. He had a flourishing church practice in the north west of 
England. St Peter’s is a great landmark in Lancaster and its spire a 
key feature of the skyline. The interior is particularly beautiful 
with fine stained glass by Hardman of Birmingham, painted 
decoration by T. Earley and J.A. Pippet, and a grand carved and 
painted wood reredos behind the altar added in 1909 and 
designed by Sir Giles Gilbert Scott. The grant in Round 1 
enabled the Cathedral to install a much needed new emergency 
lighting system. This has been very discreetly installed so that the 
fittings do not stand out or damage the appearance of the 
interior. The system required a lot of high level access within the 
nave and the aisles. This type of work which is largely hidden but 
very essential is notoriously hard to fund raise for. The grant in 
Round 1 enabled the introduction of this new system with the 
minimum of disturbance to the historic fabric.

East Road, Lancaster
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £14,189  

Archdiocese of Liverpool

Diocese of Lancaster

St Philip Neri

St Peter’s Cathedral



This glorious little church is the masterpiece of E.W. Pugin, son of Augustus Pugin. It is remarkably little altered and retains all its original 
key features. It was built for the de Trafford family in 1863–68 to serve both as a parish church and as a mausoleum for the family whose 
large estate once surrounded it. It is located close to the Manchester Ship Canal. Finely detailed both externally and internally, it has a 
magnificent carved reredos behind the altar carved by R. L. Boulton of Cheltenham and on the wall to the south a large wall painting by 
J.A. Pippet depicting bishops, clergy, nuns, and patrons kneeling before the Lamb of God. Edward Pugin is depicted holding plans of the 
church.  The church is now in the ownership of the Franciscans. There was a major restoration in the 1980s but this did not include the 
roof of the de Trafford chapel which was suffering serious water ingress and damage to internal decorative details. The grant in Round 1 
has seen the decorative roof of this small chapel fully restored with all its details carefully repaired and reinstated.

Barton-upon-Irwell, Greater Manchester  
Grade I | Grant Round 1: £86,726
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Order of Friars Minor Conventual

All Saints Friary
N
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Like St Walburge’s in Preston, the church of The Holy Name of 
Jesus was commissioned by the Jesuits to designs by J.A. 
Hansom. It is another masterpiece. It was built between 
1869–71 just south of the city centre in what was then a 
fashionable Georgian part of town and which is now the main 
campus of The University of Manchester. The Holy Name 
serves as the Catholic Chaplaincy to the University.

The church was originally intended to have a large spire but the 
ground conditions were not considered suitable and a smaller 
octagonal tower was added by Adrian Gilbert-Scott in 1928. 
Internally, the church is magnificent. There are many side 
chapels, each special in its own way and beautifully detailed. 
Much of the interior is faced in terracotta and the vaults over the 
side chapels are constructed with honeycombed shaped blocks 
of terracotta to reduce the weight on the walls. This unusual 
structural form was uncovered during the recent repair works to 
the chapel roofs. 

The side chapel roofs around the Sanctuary were in urgent need 
of repair with slipped slates and worn out leadwork. Water was 
getting in and staining the fine terracotta interior and painted 
decoration. The grants in both Rounds 1 and 2 have enabled the 
side chapels on both sides of the Sanctuary to be fully restored 
with new slates, leadwork and carved stone to replace areas of 
cracked or seriously weathered masonry. As the interior spaces 
within the chapels dry out, work to restore the decorative 
schemes can proceed as funds become available.

Oxford Road, Manchester
Grade I | Grant Round 1: £110,625  

  Grant Round 2: £179,297

Name of  Jesus

Society of Jesus Trust
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St Walburge’s is one of the most impressive Catholic churches in 
the country. Built for the Jesuits between 1850–54 and designed 
by Joseph Aloysius Hansom, it has the tallest spire of any parish 
church in Britain (only the spires of Salisbury and Norwich 
Cathedrals are taller). At the time it was built, its spire towered 
over the numerous chimneys of Preston’s cotton mills. Today, 
those chimneys have largely gone but St Walburge’s remains a 
magnificent landmark in the city. Its interior is no less remarkable 
with its vast hammerbeam roof decorated with statues of saints. 
Beautifully built in the mid C19th, the roof covering now needs 
to be replaced as the nails holding the vast slates have rusted 
through causing slippage. High level stonework needs repair and 
repointing and the leadwork in parapet gutters needs renewing to 
stop water ingress and rot setting in. 

The church is leased by the Diocese of Lancaster to the Institute 
of Christ the King Sovereign Priest. Priests of the Institute 
celebrate the Mass in the Latin Rite. An Expression of Interest 
request submitted to the National Lottery Heritage Fund in the 
spring of 2021 was unsuccessful but the announcement of the 
second round of Heritage Stimulus Fund grants in the summer 
of that year enabled St Walburge’s to apply. 

The tight timescale for completion of work meant that it was only 
feasible to repair about a third of the roof, particularly given the 
enormous height and steep pitch of the roof. An immense amount 
of scaffolding was needed. Once the contractors reached the apex 
of the roof at the west end it was found that the stone Crucifix was 
cracked in three places and leaning ominously, about to fall. 
Luckily the whole structure was taken down just days before 
Storm Arwen hit in November 2021. The figures of the Virgin and 
St John have been repaired but the Crucifix itself needed to be 
re-carved. The whole sculpture is now back in position.

The roofs over the Sanctuary at the east end and the roof on the 
north side of the church still need to be renewed. The recent 
work at St Walburge’s illustrates vividly why grants for major 
capital works of repair are so essential if magnificent buildings 
like this which have so much to contribute to their communities 
are to survive. 

Weston Street, Preston     
Grade I | Grant Round 2: £298,631

N
orth W

est of  England
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Institute of Christ the King Sovereign Priest

St Walburge
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Originally built by the Jesuits and dedicated to St Ignatius their 

founder, this church is one of the earliest surviving Catholic 

churches in Preston and the earliest in the city to have a spire. 

Designed in 1833 in the gothic style by J.J. Scholes, a favourite 

architect of the Jesuits who went on to design their great 

churches, the Immaculate Conception, Farm Street in Mayfair, 

London and St Francis Xavier in Liverpool, the church was 

enlarged twice in the C19th. The poet, Gerard Manley Hopkins 

was a curate at St Ignatius in the 1880s.  Following closure in 

2014, it was taken on the following year by the Syro-Malabar 

Catholic Eparchy of Great Britain and is now their Cathedral.

The church has suffered from serious dry rot in its roofs. As at 

St Walburge’s, the C19th roof coverings and related leadwork 

need to be replaced having reached the end of their life. 

The Syro-Malabar Catholic community originate in Southern 

India where Christianity goes back to the time of the Apostles when 

St Thomas the Apostle sailed to India from the Arabian peninsula 

in around AD 50. Today, the Eparchy is in full communion with 

Rome and there are now around 40,000 Syro-Malabar Catholics 

living and working in Great Britain.

This gothic style church with fine Victorian stained glass by 

Hardman and Co. now has a new layer of colour and symbolism 

added with statues of St Alphonsa and St Teresa of Calcutta 

adorning the church and colourful altar frontals introduced to 

great effect. Last year the relics of St Bernadette of Lourdes 

came on tour to dioceses in England and Wales arriving at

St Alphonsa’s in late September. The grant aided works to the 

aisle roofs had been completed by then and the internal 

scaffolding and unsightly plastic sheeting limiting dust had 

been removed. The whole church was then filled with people 

to celebrate this important and holy event.

Whilst the whole roof needs to be recovered, the grants awarded in 

Rounds 1 and 2 have ensured that the worst areas of dry rot have 

been addressed. This funding has been a life line but there is still 

much more to be done but the church currently lacks the funds. 
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St Ignatius Square, Preston    
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £133,526

  Grant Round 2: £295,358  

Syro-Malabar Cathedral
of St Alphonsa



Chester Road, Macclesfield
Grade II* | Grant Round 2: £177,314
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Diocese of Shrewsbury

This landmark church on the south side of Macclesfield is an 
early work of A.W.N. Pugin. Pugin designed the church in 1838 
and it was opened in 1841. The choice of Pugin as architect was 
encouraged by Pugin’s great patron the 16th Earl of Shrewsbury 
who provided funding.  Although the tower was not completed 
the interior retains significant Pugin designed fittings including 
the fine rood screen — Pugin’s first. The carved wooden figures 
on it are C15th Flemish and came from Louvain. Sourcing from 
the Continent and incorporating medieval sculpture into his 
churches was typical of Pugin. The glorious east window, 
designed by William Warrington, was a gift of the Earl of 
Shrewsbury. It depicts St Alban, proto-martyr of England.

The roofs at St Alban’s were failing and the tower was suffering 
from water ingress when the parish obtained what turned out to 
be one of the last Heritage Lottery Fund grants under HLF’s 
former Grants for Places of Worship scheme. This grant saw the 
urgent work to the tower completed but the GPOW scheme 
was closed in 2017 so further phases of work at St Alban’s stalled 
due to lack of funds. The grant recently awarded has seen the 
aisle and nave roofs re-slated. The parish was very fortunate in 
securing additional funding from the Gubay Foundation to 
complete the roof project. Dedication, commitment and sheer 
hard work on the part of parishioners paid off.

St Alban
N
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Inspired by the design of Westminster Cathedral and very 
largely designed before the outbreak of the First World War by 
the young architect Henry Oswald Hill, who served as a pilot in 
the Royal Flying Corps and was killed during the conflict, this 
church opened in 1925. As at Westminster, it takes its cue from 
Byzantium and from Hagia Sophia. The architect E. Bower 
Norris of Manchester directed construction  largely to  Hill’s 
original design. Sadly, the planned campanile was never built.  
As at Hagia Sofia, the base of the dome is characterised by 
small, recessed high level windows which give a wonderful light 
to the rich mosaiced interior. These mosaics were designed by 
Eric Newton who worked with Italian craftsmen to install them 
with work continuing until the mid 1930s. 

The roof coverings of the dome and of the flat roofed transepts 
were failing causing water to penetrate into the fabric of the 
building causing the mosaics to lift and tesserae to fall. In 
addition, significant areas of brickwork needed repointing.  
The site of the church is within Historic England’s  current 
Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) which is focussed on heritage 
led regeneration in the centre of Rochdale around historic 
Drake Street. The HAZ is a partnership between Historic 
England, the local authority and the local community and has 
helped raise the profile of this astonishing church and generate 
interest in it. Following the award of the grant to fund repairs 
to the transept roofs and brickwork, a substantial grant was 
confirmed by the NLHF for repairs to the dome. This 
combined funding will see this magnificent church brought 
back into sound structural condition, a major achievement for 
all concerned.

Diocese of Salford

Dowling Street, Rochdale     
Grade II* | Grant Round 2: £237,216

St John the Baptist



Built on the site of the former Salford Catholic chapel, the church 
was paid for by  two local industrialists and major employers, 
Daniel Lee and John Leeming, and built between 1844 – 48. It 
became Salford Cathedral in 1850 with the reinstatement of the 
Catholic Hierarchy. It was designed by the architect Matthew 
Hadfield of the Sheffield practice Weightman and Hadfield. The 
large east window was made in 1856 by William Wailes of 
Newcastle. Its aim was to depict the story of Catholicism in 
England from the time of the conversion of King Ethelbert by St 
Augustine in AD 597 through to 1850 with English saints and 
martyrs depicted in colourful stained glass. Whilst much of the 
high Victorian detailing has been lost as a result of vigorous 
re-orderings in 1972 and 1983, the Blessed Sacrament Chapel, 
designed by Peter Paul Pugin in 1884, retains much of its 
character as well as the important collection of relics that 
Cardinal Vaughan obtained in Italy whilst he was Bishop of 
Salford before becoming Archbishop of Westminster. The War 
Memorial Chapel is another finely detailed space but was 
suffering from water ingress. The grant has enabled the roof of 
this chapel to be fully restored. 
 
After years of dereliction and decay in the area around Chapel 
Street, Salford is now seeing massive regeneration and new 
development, particularly new housing. The Cathedral now 
has a growing congregation with many students attending daily 
Mass. The roof of the Cathedral had got into a poor state and 
patch repairs were no longer an option. The first major phase of 
roof repairs to the nave were supported with a substantial grant 
from the First World War Centenary Cathedrals Repair Fund 
in 2016 which subsequently also provided funding for a new 
access into the Cathedral away from the narrow pavement and 
busy traffic on Chapel Street onto which the original west 
doors of the Cathedral open. The recent grant has seen the 
restoration of a further significant element of Cathedral fabric 
and Cathedral is now embarking on a major repair of the roof 
over the Sanctuary ahead of launching an appeal to restore the 
interior. The Cathedral lies at the heart of the historic core of 
Salford and is a major landmark. Its current renaissance will be 
a symbol of the area’s wider transformation. 

Diocese of Salford

Cathedral of St John the Evangelist
Chapel Street, Salford   
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £86,474
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The Abbey church at Ampleforth was designed by Sir Giles 
Gilbert Scott, the architect of Battersea and Bankside Power 
Stations (the latter now Tate Modern). Gilbert Scott also 
designed the traditional red telephone box. The abbey was built in 
1925 but not completed until 1961. It was recently upgraded to 
Grade I. The design of the church is simple and beautifully 
proportioned with a quiet grandeur. The interior contains fine 
stained glass and woodwork by Robert (Mouseman) Thompson. 

Scott did not want to spoil his elevations by having downpipes 
visible so these were encased within the thickness of the walls. 
Inevitably, they have caused trouble over the years, particularly 
with recent and more frequent extreme weather  events. Heavy rain 
has caused these internal downpipes to overflow and for water to 
soak into the walls causing damp, staining and rot. This issue has 
been compounded by the asphalt covered flat roofs to the aisles 
which badly needed replacement. The grant in Round 1 enabled 
these extensive flat roofs to be fully repaired and recovered with 
new asphalt.  It had been hoped that Lottery funding was going to 
support the cost of repairs at the Abbey but, despite a first stage 
pass a few years ago and the project development stage proceeding 
to submission,  final grant approval was not forthcoming so the 
repair works could not go ahead. These substantial expanses of flat 
roof are now secure for many years to come.

22

Ampleforth Abbey Trust

Ampleforth, York
Grade I | Grant Round 1: £271,677  

Abbey Church of St Laurence
N
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This magnificent church was built to serve the growing 
population of Elswick, once a suburb of Newcastle but now 
very much a part of the city, after the construction of the 
mighty W.G. Armstrong factories on the banks of the Tyne in 
1847. The Armstrong Elswick Works made hydraulic machinery 
and armaments and later expanded into ship building. Terraces 
housing factory workers filled the hillside above the factories.  
Designed by Dunn, Hansom and Dunn, and acknowledged to 
be their finest church, St Michael’s was built between 1889–91. 
The interior is of high quality with fine carved woodwork and 
stained glass. The Lady Chapel (1915) and the Sacred Heart 
Chapel (1931) were the work of Sir Giles Gilbert Scott. The 
lantern above the crossing recalls Ely Cathedral.

The terraced housing was demolished in the 1960s and the factory 
was finally closed and demolished in 1979. St Michael’s thus lost 
its hinterland and its congregation shrank dramatically. Whilst 
new housing is being constructed in the area, St Michael’s is a vast 
church in a deprived area. The grant enabled the re-roofing of the 
north aisle where water was seeping in, causing rot and staining 
the interior decoration.

Westmoreland Road, Elswick,
Newcastle-upon-Tyne        
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £23,925Diocese of Hexham and Newcastle

The Catholic population of Ripon grew significantly following 
Emancipation and this church, built to the designs of J.A. 
Hansom, was constructed between 1860–62 in an early French 
Gothic style. The wonderfully elaborate carved reredos was 
designed by E.W. Pugin and depicts in carved relief scenes from 
the life of St Wilfrid.

The parish had hoped to secure a Heritage Lottery Fund grant 
but was ultimately unsuccessful at the second stage of the HLF 
application process. Parishioners then valiantly went on to raise a 
significant sum which enabled repairs to get underway but not to 
be completed. The grant provided the funding to complete the 
project and in particular to restore the high level stone windows 
of the clerestory, a key architectural feature of this church.

Coltsgate, Ripon, North Yorkshire
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £114,583  Diocese of Leeds

St Michael

St Wilfrid
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There was a strong Catholic presence in and around Hexham 
from the early C17th supported by local recusant families and 
before this church was built there were two small Catholic 
chapels in the town. However, as the prospect of Catholic 
Emancipation progressed it was agreed that a new church would 
be built on one of the sites and the other site sold. St Mary’s is the 
result, begun in 1828 and opened in 1830, the year after the 
passing of the Roman Catholic Relief Act of 1829. It seems that 
the church was designed by Fr Michael Singleton, the mission 
priest at the time, and is in the Gothic style. The Papal arms 
feature prominently on the front façade. 

Urgent repairs were needed to timber windows and to elements 
of rainwater disposal from the roof where past patch repairs to 
the valleys with inappropriate materials were failing and 
required comprehensive replacement with lead.

Hencoates, Hexham, Northumberland
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £22,604

Diocese of Hexham and Newcastle

Diocese of Hexham and Newcastle

A short distance from John Dobson’s great Classical Central 
Railway Station stands the almost contemporary St Mary’s 
Cathedral, an essay in the Decorated Gothic style by A.W.N. 
Pugin built between 1842–44. Pugin wanted a spire but the 
money ran out and it was not until 1872 that A.M. Dunn and 
E.J. Hansom designed the spire that rises above the three gable 
ends that face the station. Internally, the High Altar and 
reredos are by Pugin and the large east window behind was 
made to Pugin’s design in 1844 by the Newcastle stained glass 
artist, William Wailes. It depicts the Tree of Jesse and the 
ancestry of Christ in brilliant colour.

The external stonework was in a badly weathered condition which 
threatened the stability of the glass as well as allowing water 
ingress. The grant has enabled the stonework of this fine window 
to be carefully replaced. 

Clayton Street West, Newcastle-upon-Tyne       
Grade I | Grant Round 1: £51,262

Cathedral of St Mary

St Mary
N
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Situated close to the city centre, St Anne’s Cathedral is 
remarkable as the only Arts and Crafts cathedral in England. 
The earlier, Victorian cathedral was demolished for a road 
widening scheme in the late C19th and Leeds Corporation 
provided a new site close by for the present building which 
was constructed between 1901–4. The architects were John 
Henry Eastwood and Sydney Kiffin Greenslade. Greenslade’s 
magnificent reredos dominates the Sanctuary. The Lady Chapel 
contains beautiful altar designed by A.W.N Pugin in 1842 from 
the old church.

The grant enabled the Cathedral to install a new fire detection 
system and also to restore seriously eroded low level stonework 
on the exterior which had deteriorated badly due to salty water 
being splashed across the pavement onto the stonework by 
passing vehicles during the winter months. Happily, the heavy 
traffic along this side of the Cathedral has been diverted.

Cookridge Street, Leeds      
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £61,630

Diocese of Leeds

Cathedral of St Anne

This early Catholic church of 1806 grew out of the long 
established Jesuit presence in Pontefract which dated from 1683. 
In 1685 the Jesuits established a small boys’ school, the first in 
West Yorkshire since the Reformation. These early buildings 
were sacked in 1688 in the wake of anti-Catholic riots, notably in 
Edinburgh, during the year in which James II’s wife, Mary of 
Modena, gave birth to a son who was baptised a Catholic which 
in turn led to the invasion of William of Orange later that year. 
The Jesuits moved to the present site on Crab Hill in 1799 and 
converted the upper part of the house into a chapel. The chapel 
was enlarged in 1833. The Jesuits left in 1891 and the church is 
now part of the Diocese of Leeds.

The gutters and downpipes were in urgent need of attention and 
high-level brick and stonework required repair and repointing. 
The two grants awarded in Rounds 1 and 2 enabled the whole 
exterior of the church to be restored. The dual carriageway, 
Jubilee Way, constructed in 1980 sadly cuts the church off from 
the historic centre of Pontefract but St Joseph’s remains a key 
landmark on the approach into Pontefract from the north. 

Crab Hill, Pontefract, West Yorkshire     
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £36,466 

  Grant Round 2: £88,872  

St Joseph

Diocese of Leeds



26

N
orth East of England &

 Yorkshire

27

St Paul’s was commissioned by the Third Duke of Northumberland and designed by Anthony Salvin to serve as the Anglican church 
for a newly expanding residential district within the town. It was built between 1845–46. The east window, designed by William 
Dyce who also worked on historical murals at the Palace of Westminster, commemorates the Third Duke who died shortly after the 
church was completed. The Fourth Duke went on to engage Salvin to work at Alnwick Castle between 1854–60.
   
By the early 1980s, St Mary’s, the Victorian Catholic church in the town, was too small. By this time, St Paul’s had been declared 
redundant and so the decision was taken for the Catholics of Alnwick to take it on. Key features such as the reredos, Lady Chapel 
fittings and Stations of the Cross were moved from St Mary’s which was subsequently converted into the local museum. 

The roofs at the east end of the church were failing with slates slipping. The grant has seen these roofs recovered with Westmoreland 
slate. Without the grant, the parish was contemplating having to replace the Westmoreland slate with less expensive Welsh slate 
which would have altered the appearance. The recent repairs have ensured that the east end of the church remains as Salvin intended. 
The church is a prominent feature in the surrounding Conservation Area.

Percy Street, Alnwick, Northumberland
Grade II* | Grant Round 2: £107,574

Diocese of Hexham and Newcastle

St Paul



The suburb of Manningham on the northern edge of Bradford 
grew up around the vast Italianate style mills of the Lister family 
which were built in the 1870s. This area is now very deprived 
and although St Cuthbert’s and Wilmer Road are in the 
Conservation Area there are empty and decaying historic 
buildings nearby. St Cuthbert’s is a striking building designed by 
W.H. and J.E. Marten and built between 1890–92. Internally, it 
contains outstanding devotional sculpture by Eric Gill including 
a number of statues and a set of Stations of the Cross similar to 
those at Westminster Cathedral. Mgr O’Connor, parish priest at 
St Cuthbert’s from 1919 to 1952 was a friend of Eric Gill. It is 
also understood that G.K. Chesterton based his character of Fr 
Brown on Mgr O’Connor.

The roofs and stonework on the north side of the church were 
failing badly and the church had to close its doors due to falling 
plaster in the north aisle. The grant has enabled these roofs to be 
repaired with the funding providing an essential life line for this 
church. St Cuthbert’s is now back in use again.

Wilmer Road, Bradford     
Grade II* | Grant Round 2: £248,034  

Diocese of Leeds
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Archdiocese of Birmingham

One of A.W.N. Pugin’s earliest commissions and built between 
1839–41, St Chad’s became a Cathedral following the reinstatement 
of the Catholic hierarchy by Pope Pius IX in 1850. St Chad was 
Bishop of Saxon Mercia during the C7th and a pupil of St Aidan of 
Lindisfarne. St Chad’s relics were rescued from his shrine at 
Lichfield Cathedral at the Reformation and kept hidden by 
recusant families until the C19th. The bones are now housed in 
the beautiful reliquary above the High Altar.

Pugin deliberately chose a northern European Gothic style 
redolent of the Baltic to ensure that his church would look very 
different to any other churches in Birmingham at the time. The 
16th Earl of Shrewsbury provided much of the funding and 
gave the C15th Flemish pulpit. The choir stalls came from 
Cologne. Pugin himself gave the beautiful C15th Madonna 
and Child for the Lady Chapel. The tall interior is wonderfully 
light and the Cathedral contains superb stained glass including 
a window relating in separate scenes the whole story of the 
rescue, preservation and ultimate rediscovery of St Chad’s relics 
and their triumphant arrival at the Cathedral.

During the Second World War the Cathedral took a direct hit 
through the roof. Fortunately, the bomb hit a radiator on the 
Cathedral floor which burst putting out the fire almost 
immediately thus saving the Cathedral. By 2020 the existing 
fire detection system needed replacing and the grant has 
enabled this to be installed throughout the Cathedral. High 
level sensors were fitted in the nave using a cherry-picker with 
an enormously tall extending boom.

Queensway, Birmingham    
Grade II* | Grant Round 1: £64,904

St Chad’s Cathedral
M
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Harvington Hall is a moated medieval and Elizabethan manor 
house located close to Kidderminster. During the penal period 
after the Reformation it belonged to the recusant Pakington 
family and is famous for its priest holes, some of which were 
reputedly constructed by St Nicholas Owen, the Jesuit lay brother 
renowned for creating ingenious hiding places for the itinerant 
missionary Catholic priests, trained on the Continent, who sought 
to move incognito around the country from house to house 
visiting recusant families and saying Mass. At the time, simply 
being a priest and saying Mass was illegal with imprisonment or 
death the fate of those caught by Crown officials, with a similar 
fate for those accused of harbouring priests.

Harvington was given to the Archdiocese of Birmingham in 1923 
and it is open to the public. It is a remarkable house both for its 
history and for the survival of the remarkable and extensive 
survival of original Elizabethan wall paintings, including in the 
chapel on the upper floor. Harvington Hall’s peaceful atmosphere 
today belies the turbulence of its past. 

The grant funded masonry repairs were carried out on the two 
bridges which provide the only access to the hall across its ancient 
moat, ensuring that Harvington can remain open for visitors, who 
come in increasing numbers, to enjoy its beauty and tranquility.

Archdiocese of Birmingham

Harvington, Kidderminster, Worcestershire    
Grade I | Grant Round 2: £118,501

Harvington Hall
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The 16th Earl of Shrewsbury wanted A.W.N. Pugin to design 
Shrewsbury Cathedral but Pugin died in 1852 and then the Earl 
himself died. The project was carried forward by his second cousin 
and heir, Bertram. The 17th Earl, and Edward Pugin, son of 
Augustus Pugin, took over the commission. Bertram was 20 years 
old and Edward just 18. Sensibly, they engaged George Myers who 
had worked with Pugin on many projects to help with the 
building. It was constructed between 1853–56 on a tight site 
adjacent to the town walls.

The great east window was designed by Hardman & Co. of 
Birmingham.  It was in a poor state with the leading giving way and 
elements of the stained glass itself badly in need of conservation. 
The grant aided project involved removing the window completely 
to a conservation workshop where the glass and leading could be 
conserved and repaired prior to reinstatement. The stonework of 
the east elevation was repaired along with the rainwater goods to 
ensure water was no longer running down the walls. 

The restoration of the east window was completed as part of a 
project to recapture the Victorian character of the Sanctuary itself 
largely lost when a modern forward altar on a bright blue carpeted 
platform was installed projecting into the nave in the 1980s.  Partly 
driven by a need to create more space in the nave for the expanding 
congregation and  in the knowledge that the beautiful decoratively 
tiled Victorian floor lay concealed beneath the carpet, the project 
was given a new focus with the generous gift from the Dean and 
Chapter of Ely Cathedral of a late C19th red marble and alabaster 
altar which, not needed at medieval Ely, was in need of a suitable 
new home.

Diocese of Shrewsbury
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Town Walls, Shrewsbury 
Grade II* | Grant Round 2: £156,282

Cathedral of Our Lady Help of
Christians and St Peter of Alcantara


